RECEIVED

Jun 17 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

Appeal From The
SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
WCC File No. 1908703
Appellate Case No. 2022-000067

KYLE R. BAGLEY, Employee..... Appellant,

v.

JN FIBERS, INC., D/B/A SUN FIBER, LLC, Employer, and
GREAT AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY, Carrier..... Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Bryan N. Sanchez, # 80372
Nicholas J.A. Stark, # 103414
772 Cherry Road (29732)
PO Box 11583
Rock Hill, SC 29731
bryan.sanchez@stacylewislaw.com
nick.stark@stacylewislaw.com
Attorneys For Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the Workers' Compensation Commission's reversal of the single Commissioner's Order violates the substantial evidence rule, and/or, whether the Panel's denial of benefits for Claimant's left arm/hand contractures, left drop foot, aggravation to pre-existing psyche problems, and head injury is controlled by legal errors in requiring medical imaging to prove Claimant's injuries were related to his work-related accident.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Factual Background

Claimant, Kyle Bagley, has a seventh-grade education but was able to attain his GED. (Claimant Depo. p.14, lines 1-3). Throughout his working life Claimant has done trade work, primarily construction related or maintenance related. (Id. lines 8-17). At the time of the accident at issue before the Court, Claimant worked as a maintenance technician at the Defendant-Employer, JN Fibers, dba Sun Fiber, LLC, where, on June 14, 2019, he was struck on the top of his head by a very large bale of fiber, weighing between 600-700 pounds, as it came down the roller ramp that he was knelt beside as he was in the process of welding a part of the ramp to the floor. (Claimant Depo.p.38, lines 17-24 - p.39, lines 1-22). The force of the impact to his head was so hard that it knocked the Claimant back several feet where he landed on his backside. *Id.*

Frustrated and stunned by the accident, Claimant got up off the floor turned the welder off and went out and sat in his truck for an hour or so to gather himself together after this injury. (Id.p.33, lines 14-20 – p.34, lines 9-11). After coming back inside the plan from his truck, Claimant completed one more welding job that took 10 to 15 minutes to complete and finished his shift. (Id. p.34, lines 3-4, lines 14-16 – p.35, lines 2-3). Following his shift, Claimant left to go home but returned to the Defendant-Employer around 8:20 a.m. to inform management about the accident that happened earlier that morning. (Id.p.38, lines 5-14). The manager he spoke with, Mr.

Winters, asked Claimant if he thought he needed medical attention, and Claimant replied, “no” because he “didn’t feel like anything was broke.” (Id.p.38, line 25 – p.39, lines 1-5).

When Claimant got home that Friday morning following the accident he went straight to bed and slept all day, and Saturday, he “didn’t do nothing,” “was just sluggish and sore.” (Id.p.39, lines 16-23 – p.45, line 10). “Sunday was Father’s Day and that’s when I started feeling a little bit icky,” “[e]verything started getting nasty feelings and you get to feeling nasty,” with pain traveling from his neck, down his back, through his groin, down his left leg, and terminating in his foot.” (Id.p.41, lines 2-4 – p.44, lines 11-14 – p.45 lines 13-15).

Because he is the only maintenance technician on his shift, Claimant attempted to return to work Monday evening, June 17, 2019. (Id.p.39, lines 23-25). Nauseous, Claimant left early that night and went to Chester Regional Medical Center concerned that maybe he had eaten something bad. (Id.p.1, lines 7-11). However, once at Chester Regional, Claimant explained to the doctor what had happened at work, the headache he had, and the sharp pain he was feeling down his back - the doctor ordered CT scans of Claimant’s cervical, thoracic, and lumbar spine. (Id. lines 16-22 – Claimant’s APA pp.4, 6).

Claimant was released from Chester Regional after review of the CT scans showed maintained disc height and no acute fracture. (Claimant’s APA pp.4, 13). On June 25, 2019, Claimant presented to MUSC Lowry’s Family Medicine, his primary care provider, for a post-ER follow-up and his primary care providers evaluation revealed the following:

Left shoulder: He exhibits decreased range of motion, tenderness, bony tenderness, pain and decreased strength. He exhibits no swelling, no crepitus, no deformity, and normal pulse.

Cervical back: He exhibits decreased range of motion, tenderness, bony tenderness, pain and spasm. He exhibits no swelling.

Thoracic back: He exhibits decreased range of motion, tenderness, bony tenderness, pain and spasm.

Lumbar back: He exhibits decreased range of motion, tenderness, bony tenderness, pain and spasm. He exhibits no swelling, no edema, no deformity, and normal pulse.

(Id. p.26).

Claimant's first work comp directed care came two days later when he was sent to Riverview Medical Center/Occumed where he was written out-of-work and MRI's of the cervical, thoracic, and lumbar spine were ordered. (Id.p.32). The intake paperwork from this appointment with the diagram of the human body, completed by Claimant, provides illustration of the areas of his body that were bothering him. (Id.p.29; (Claimant's APA p.29)). Claimant was referred to see an Ortho specialist by this provider.

On July 5, 2019, Claimant was taken by his wife to Midlands Ortho and Neurosurgery where he was seen by newly licensed neurologist, Dr. Michael Brown. (Id.p.45 – Brown Depo.p.5, lines 17-19). Dr. Brown opined that Claimant's symptoms were consistent with occipital neuralgia and two occipital nerve block injections were recommended and then provided at his follow-up appointment on July 11, 2019. (Claimant's APA p.44,49 – Brown Depo.p.10, lines 15-25). At both visits, Dr. Brown observed the left arm/elbow/hand contracture and "extremity symptoms and muscular strain" that Claimant had, and physical therapy was prescribed to address these issues. (Claimant's APA p.43,46 – Brown Depo.p.7, lines 23-24 – p.15, lines 6-7). At his second visit, prior to Claimant undergoing the prescribed physical therapy, Dr. Brown rated and released Claimant from a neurosurgical standpoint and assigned a 5% permanent physical impairment to the whole person for cervical injuries and filled out a Form 14B- wherein it is noted and indicated that Claimant did not need any surgical treatment but needed further, non-surgical, medical treatment as a result of his compensable injury. (Claimant's APA p.64). At his deposition, Dr.

Brown clarified that his “release” was only a release from a neurosurgical perspective and “he did still have issues, which were nonsurgical” in nature and therefore required further treatment... and testified in his deposition that “when I release the patient back to the care of another physician, it is with anticipation that they will manage those other nonsurgical issues.” (Claimant’s APA p.44 – Brown Depo.p.14, lines 18-24).

On July 22, 2019, Claimant, chaperoned by his wife, presented to Your Life Wellness Physical Therapy where the Objective Directed Timed Codes show the following was performed:

Neuromuscular Re-Education – Proprioception/Balance Training; Posture; Standing posture and weight shift; Patient and wife education to consciously relax left UE and shift weight to the left LE; Instructed in postural ex. Inf front of mirror.

Manual Therapy – General joint mobilization/oscillations to the left shoulder/elbow/hand to encourage normal tone and extension; General mobilization/oscillations to left hip and knee to encourage normal tone for WB/weight shifting.

(Claimant’s APA p. 66)

With Claimant’s symptoms persisting, he was seen by Dr. Jarrell at Carolina Neurosurgery and Spine on August 22, 2019, and a CT scan of the head/brain was ordered. (Id.p.141). With a CT scan that was normal, Dr. Jarrell concurred with Dr. Brown that Claimant’s condition was not one that needed neurosurgical intervention and referred Claimant to OrthoCarolina for an orthopedic evaluation of his left upper extremity and left drop foot as a result of this injury to his head/cervical area. (Id.p.149).

Claimant, again chaperoned by his wife, was seen by Board Certified Orthopedic Surgeon, Dr. David DuPuy, of OrthoCarolina, on September 12, 2019. (DuPuy Depo.p.6, lines 17-25). Dr. DuPuy’s physical examination of Claimant found the following:

He has limited left lateral rotation and holds his head somewhat in flexion. He has the classic decorticate position of the left hand with tight finger flexion into the palm, thumb adduction, wrist flexion, forearm pronation...He has a dropfoot

appearance on the left but does have some ability to dorsiflex nearly to neutral and has a 5- or 6-beat clonus when he does do the extension.

(Claimant's APA p. 157)

Based on his physical examination, Dr. DuPuy ordered an MRI of the Claimant's brain, an extension brace for his fixed contracture on the left hand, a dropfoot brace for the left foot, and stated that "clearly, he [Claimant] is unable to work even at light duty at this time." (Id.p.158, 156). Claimant's brain MRI revealed a single 4 mm bright spot in the right parietal subcortical white matter and mild lateral ventricle asymmetry that was within normal variation. (Id.p.166). The MRI results notwithstanding, Dr. DuPuy's medical record from September 26, 2019, still noted that Claimant's examination was of a decorticate injury to the right side. (Id.p.167). Because of this, Dr. DuPuy ordered an EMG nerve conduction study of the left upper extremity to be followed by a neurology evaluation to determine "whether any of this injury is related to cervical or more peripheral rather than central from the brain...and he is completely out of work..." (Id.).

At his April 29, 2020, deposition, Dr. DuPuy opined that while he was surprised by the lack of objective imaging that would overtly demonstrate a neurologic origin for Claimant's physical examination, "it doesn't mean that an injury can't have occurred at the cellular, microscopic level...and that's why he would defer to the neurology subspecialist." (DuPuy Depo.p.43, lines 18-24 – p.44, lines 4-7).

On Dr. DuPuy's referral, Claimant presented to the Neurological Institute on October 31, 2019, for evaluation by Dr. T. Hemanth Rao. (Claimant's APA p.18-183). Consistent with his prior evaluations, Dr. Rao's examination found the following:

Musculoskeletal - Tenderness of the cervical, thoracic, and lumbar spines with very tight muscles.

Motor – The left upper extremity is held in flexion especially at the wrist and long, ring, and 5th digits. The left foot is held in inversion. He has decreased muscle strength of the left upper and lower extremities and a partial left drop.

Sensation – Decreased in the left upper extremity especially of the palm of the hand, long, ring and 5th digits. Decreased sensation of the left lower extremity on the plantar and dorsal foot as well in the [left] lower leg.

Reflexes – Brisk of the left upper and lower extremities. Plantar response was silent on the L side.

(Id.p.183).

Dr. Rao ordered an EEG for the Claimant, which revealed a ‘left frontal slow wave focus’ but was otherwise normal and given the Claimant’s presentation, Dr. Rao ordered a 96-hour video monitored EEG and participation in the clinic’s outpatient brain injury program for further targeting of the exact issues/injuries sustained in this workplace accident. (Id.p.185, 187, 189). Because Defendants denied that Claimant’s ongoing condition were the result of the admittedly compensable work-related injury, Claimant has not undergone the 96-hour video monitored EEG nor participated in the brain injury program- as he also does not have any health insurance nor the financial resources to afford/pay for such on his own.

Several of the providers treating the Claimant for his physical limitations/problems also noted that the Claimant was experiencing anxiety, depression, and mood disorder, that was at the very least exacerbated by Claimant’s physical condition. It is uncontested that Claimant had prior anxiety related to stressor at work but that he was significantly more depressed now and that was “more than ever.” (9/28/20 Tr.p.51, lines 2-15 – Defs’ APA p.353-361). Defendants sent Claimant to be evaluated by Dr. Paez, who evaluated the Claimant and recommended that he “attend psychotherapy to address his adjustment issues” and to get used to his “new normal” because of this workplace incident and the injuries he sustained. (Defs’ APA p.353-361).

At Defendants' direction, Claimant had two IMEs with neurosurgeon, Dr. Brett Gunter at Lexington Brain and Spine Center. The first of which took place on March 10, 2020 and the second on July 8, 2020. (Defs' APA p.423-431). The March 10, 2020, examination was limited to Claimant's lumbar spine only. Dr. Gunter's review of the Claimant's MRI of his Lumbar Spine did not reveal the need for surgical intervention to such. (Gunter Depo.p.9, lines 1-5). The 2nd IME of July 8, 2020, was focused on the Claimant's cervical spine but Dr. Gunter was "unable to identify either a cervical spinal disease or intracranial disease to explain his current condition" given the limited evidence/diagnostics at hand so far (Gunter Depo.p.9, lines 11-13). Dr. Gunter, like every provider who treated Claimant before him, opined that "[h]e will need continued rehabilitation for the contractures of his left upper and left lower...left upper and lower extremity." (Id. lines 16-18).

Since leaving work shortly after arriving on June 17, 2019, Claimant has not worked in any capacity for any employer, given his physical limitations he faces as a result of this compensable injury.

B. Initial Hearing Before the Hearing Commissioner

An initial hearing in this claim was held on September 28, 2020, before the Honorable Gene McCaskill, wherein the parties stipulated to, among other things, that Defendants admitted that Claimant sustained a back/spine injury while employed by the Defendants on June 14, 2019, and that Claimant's Average Weekly Wage ("AWW") was \$877.79 with a corresponding Compensation Rate ("CR") of \$ 585.20. (5/13/20 Or.p.4).

Three witnesses gave live testimony at the hearing and depositions of Drs' Brown, DuPuy, Rao, and Gunter, as well as the deposition of Claimant, were submitted for consideration, along with all of the parties' APA's they submitted. (9/28/2020 Tr.p.3, 14, 26, 37).

Claimant's wife testified that since the date of injury, Claimant has "a lot of limitations" that were not present prior to that date. (Id.p.15, lines 3-11, 18-21). Next, the Claimant's mother, and recipient of the Order of Palmetto Award in South Carolina, testified that prior to the work-related injury her "son was very energetic, and he was a very hard worker" that did not have the left arm/elbow/hand contracture and left dropfoot prior to this work-related injury. (Id.p.27, lines 1-2 – p.28, lines 24-25 – p.29, lines 10-12). Both the Claimant's wife and his mother testified that he had no pre-existing "mental issues" of concern and that following his injury he has become depressed (among many other issues/limitations he faced due to this injury at hand). (Id.p.22, lines 17-23 – p.23, lines 4-7 – p.33, lines 8-13).

At the hearing, Commissioner McCaskill was able to observe Claimant firsthand, likewise his wife and mother. Commissioner McCaskill also went through every single page of medical records and deposition testimony, all of which is contained in the parties APA's they submitted, before weighing/balancing the evidence before him in rendering his final decision.

Based on a preponderance of the evidence, Hearing Commissioner McCaskill found as fact that "Claimant is clearly not today as he was before the accident," and that "Claimant was clearly hurt at work" but that the question was whether Claimant's physical issues were causally related to the work-related accident. (5/13/21 Or.p.5). Finding of Fact No. 41 states "It must be noted that the contractures that the Claimant now presents with were not present until after this work-related injury." (Id.p. 8). Finding further that based on the evidence before him, Claimant had not yet reached MMI for the injuries suffered in the admittedly compensable work-related accident and that he was entitled to medical treatment for both his physical and mental conditions, and indemnity benefits from the date last paid to current and ongoing. (Id.p.8-9 – See also Conclusion of Law 2-5, p.10-11).

C. Respondents Appeal to the Appellate Panel

The Respondents appealed the single commissioner's decision raising these four issues in their brief to the Appellate Panel:

- 1) Whether the Hearing Commissioner erred in finding Claimant met his burden of proving he sustained compensable physical injuries to his brain, left hand, left foot, and a compensable aggravation of a pre-existing psychological condition.
- 2) Whether the Hearing Commissioner erred in finding, as a matter of fact, that Claimant's orthopedist (Dr. David DuPuy) is a neurosurgeon, who as qualified to opine beyond his scope of expertise concerning Claimant's brain and psychological condition.
- 3) Whether the Hearing Commissioner erred in finding, as a matter of fact, that the opinion of Claimant's neurologist (Dr. T. Hemanth Rao) was entitled to greater weight than the opinions of three neurosurgeons (Dr. Matthew Brown, Dr. Taylor Jarrell, and Dr. Brett Gunter) concerning whether Claimant sustained a physical injury to the brain.
- 4) Whether the Hearing Commissioner erred in finding, as a matter of fact, that Claimant was not at maximum medical improvement, and that Claimant has met his burden of proving he is entitled to temporary benefits and medical treatment.

(12/21/21 Or.p.12-13).

The Appellate Panel reversed the single commissioner's order, giving greater weight to the opinions of Dr. Brown and Dr. Gunter, over the opinions of Dr. Dupuy and Dr. Rao, despite the evidence to the contrary. This re-weighing of medical testimony was based on the fact that Dr. DuPuy is an orthopedic surgeon whereas Dr. Brown and Dr. Gunter are neurosurgeons and Dr. Rao's testimony was given less weight due to a prior settlement entered into by Dr. Rao and the Department of Justice regarding Medicare reimbursement and that "Dr. Rao bases his opinion primarily upon Claimant's subjective statements concerning the timeline of symptoms...and Dr. Rao's admission that there was no objective evidence to support his opinion. (Id.p.24-25).

Following a purported summation of the medical evidence and testimony, Finding of Fact No. 67 then finds:

Based upon a preponderance of the evidence, including the medical evidence and testimony, we find and conclude Claimant's alleged symptoms of left hand

contracture and left foot drop are medically inconsistent with the mechanism of injury due to: the anatomical layout of the brain; the absence of the objective diagnostic evidence of brain injury; the fact that Claimant did not lose consciousness, and; the presentation of symptoms which were clinically inconsistent with the progression of long term functional symptoms from a closed head injury.

(Id.p.27). That finding lays the groundwork for Findings of Fact 68, 69, 70, and 72, as well as Conclusions of Law 6, 7, 9. (Id.p.27-29).

ARGUMENT

An appellate court's review is limited to the determination of whether or not the Commission's decision is supported by substantial evidence or is controlled by an error of law. *Hartzell v. Palmetto Collision, LLC*, 415 S.C. 617, 785 S.E.2d 194 (2016). The Appellate Panel's decision in this case is clearly erroneous in view of the reliable and substantial evidence on the whole records as it is not supported by the material evidence presented at these hearings, nor the testimony presented, and the Panel committed various errors of law as well; of which will be addressed in turn below.

I. The decision of the Workers' Compensation Commission violates the substantial evidence rule because the single pillar upon which the decision rests is the absence of imaging and ignores Claimants uncontested, objective, physical presentation when viewed as whole.

"Substantial evidence is evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion that the commission reached in order to justify its action." *Getsinger v. Owens-Corning Fiberglas Corp.*, 335 S.C. 77, 80, 515 S.E.2d 104, 106 (Ct.App.1999) (internal citation omitted).

Unchallenged by the Respondents in their appeal to the Appellate Panel were those findings that found that Claimant presented to the providers of record with left upper extremity contracture

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