RECEIVED

Jan 17 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA
Workers' Compensation Commission Full Appellate Panel

Appellate Case No. 2022-000067

KYLE R. BAGLEY, Employee..... Appellant,

v.

JN FIBERS, INC., D/B/A SUN FIBER, LLC, Employer, and
GREAT AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY, Carrier..... Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

C. Barrett Burley
M. Brooks Biediger
HOLDER PADGETT
LITTLEJOHN + PRICKETT, LLC
1201 Main Street, Suite 1430
Columbia, South Carolina 29021
Tel.: (803)335-1446
Fax: (803)708-7820

Attorneys for Respondents

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the Commission's determination that Appellant failed to prove a compensable injury to his brain is supported by the substantial evidence?
- II. Whether the Commission correctly determined the Appellant is at maximum medical improvement for this admitted back injury?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission. Appellant alleges he sustained work related injuries to the back, head/brain, with affected body parts of "both legs (L>R), Left Arm and Radiculopathy down to back of his leg/scrotum and bottom of L-foot (L-foot drop as well)" from an accident on June 14, 2019. (R. p. 61). Respondents admitted the back injury was compensable, but denied the alleged head/brain injury and additional associated body parts. (R. p. 63).

On October 16, 2019, Appellant filed a Form 50 Employee's Request for Hearing in which he was primarily seeking determination of compensability for his alleged injuries and further medical treatment. On November 15, 2019, Respondents filed their Form 51 Answer in which they admitted Appellant sustained a minor compensable injury to his back, but denied the remainder of the alleged injuries and denied the extent of the disability alleged. Respondents also filed a Form 21 Employer's Request for Hearing in which they sought a determination that Appellant was at maximum medical improvement for the admitted back injury. (R. p. 60).

A hearing was held before the Honorable Gene McCaskill ("Single Commissioner") on September 28, 2020. In the Form 58 Pre-Hearing Brief (9/2/2020), Appellant was primarily seeking a determination of compensability for his alleged injuries, further medical treatment, as well as a determination of average weekly wage/compensation rate and whether Appellant "is entitled to underpaid/back-owed TTD as [Respondents] previously paid [Appellant] at a [compensation rate] lower than it should be." (R. p. 61-62). Respondents admitted Appellant

sustained a minor compensable injury to the back, but denied the remainder of the alleged injuries and denied the extent of the disability alleged. (R. p. 63). Respondents further sought a determination that Appellant was at maximum medical improvement pursuant to the medical evidence.

On May 13, 2021, the Single Commissioner issued a Decision and Order in which he found that Appellant had sustained a compensable head injury. (Single Commissioner Order, R. p. 19). The Single Commissioner also found that Respondents shall pay for the past causally related medical treatment and shall provide further causally-related medical care until Appellant reaches MMI or until further order of the Commission. (Single Commissioner Order, R. pp. 20-21). The Single Commissioner further ordered Respondents to provide a neurologist to treat Appellant's head/brain injury, as well as a provider for psychotherapy and "someone to treat the other 'non-neuro/psyche' injuries." (Single Commissioner Order, R. pp. 18-19).

On May 25, 2021, Respondents filed a Form 30 Request for Review by Appellate Panel of Full Commission ("Commission") contending generally that the Single Commissioner erred in finding Appellant met his burden in proving he sustained compensable injuries beyond his back, and in finding Appellant met his burden in proving he is entitled to temporary benefits and medical treatment. (R. p. 64). Oral arguments were heard before the Commission on August 30, 2021.

On December 21, 2021, the Commission issued its Decision and Order in which it reversed the findings of the Single Commissioner and determined the Appellant sustained a compensable injury to the back only. (Commission Order, R. pp. 35, 49). The Commission determined the Appellant failed to satisfy his burden of proving he sustained compensable injuries to his head, brain, left arm and hand, left foot, and psyche. (Commission Order, R. p. 49). Finally, the Commission determined the Appellant was at maximum medical improvement for his admitted

back injury, and awarded 10% permanent partial disability to the back. (Commission Order, R. pp. 49-50). This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In the early morning hours of June 14, 2019, Appellant sustained an admitted work-related injury to his back when a large bale of fiber material rolled down a short ramp and knocked him backwards. Surveillance video from the Employer captured the incident in its entirety. (R. at Defendant's Exhibit 3, video of accident). In the video, the Appellant can be seen in a squatting position welding a repair onto a short roller ramp. (R. at Defendant's Exhibit 3, video of accident). The Appellant was pushed backwards by the bale, but he quickly stood up. (R. p. 184, line 25-p. 186, line 10; R. at Defendant's Exhibit 3, video of accident). During the accident and immediately thereafter, Appellant never lost consciousness. (R. at Defendant's Exhibit 3, video of accident).

After the accident, the Appellant walked around the area and left to report the injury to his supervisor. (R. p. 186, lines 14-23; R. at Defendant's Exhibit 3, video of accident). The supervisor asked if Appellant needed medical treatment, but he declined. (R. p. 189, line 9-p. 191, line 5). After reporting the accident, the Appellant continued working and completed his shift at 7:00 A.M. (R. p. 187, lines 6-15).

Three days after the accident, Appellant first sought medical treatment at MUSC Health Chester Medical Center with complaints of acute, non-radiating pain in the posterior cervical, thoracic, and lumbar areas. (R. pp. 251-273). The record indicates the Appellant "was hit on forehead with a bale of fiber that knocked him onto his back on Friday, now hurting in his neck and entire back." (R. p. 252). On physical exam, the attending physician noted Appellant's motor function, sensory function, and deep tendon reflexes were normal, and that his gait was "steady, at a normal pace, without difficulty." (R. p. 253). CT scans of the cervical, thoracic, and lumbar

spine revealed no acute fractures, normal spinal alignment, normal vertebral discs, and no advanced canal stenosis. (R. pp. 257-258). Appellant was diagnosed with a contusion of his lower back and pelvis and discharged to follow up as needed with medication. (R. pp. 254-255). There was no notation of a left hand contracture or left foot drop in these records. (R. pp. 251-273)

Drewid Plyler Poulos, PA, Appellant's primary care provider, treated Appellant on June 25, 2019. (R. pp. 275-281). Appellant denied loss of consciousness during the accident, and complained of pain with radiculopathy in his neck and low back. (R. p. 275). Appellant denied "dizziness, light-headedness and headaches." (R. p. 276). There was no notation of a left hand contracture or left foot drop in these records. (R. pp. 275-281)

Dr. Matthew Brown, a neurosurgeon with Midlands Orthopaedics and Neurosurgery, first treated the Appellant on July 5, 2019, for complaints of neck pain radiating from the occiput up the vertex, as well as low back pain which "feels like glass," left-sided posterior buttock pain radiating to the thigh into the proximal calf, and left upper extremity pain radiating down to the left hand with a tingling sensation in the fingers with a flexed position of the whole left upper extremity. (R. pp. 295-298). On physical exam, Dr. Brown observed:

His left shoulder, elbow joint, wrist joint, and all digits on the left hand are flexed and clenched at baseline, however, he is able to have normal range of motion when asked and as well as observed delayed later throughout the exam. The patient has 5/5 bilateral upper and bilateral lower extremity strength. Of note, the patient has good full strength in both the flexors as well as all extensors of his upper extremity and does not have poor oppositional tone.

(R. pp. 296-297). Dr. Brown opined Appellant's MRI of the cervical, thoracic, and lumbar spine (7/3/2019) revealed "no significant acute pathology," and that there was "no neurological structure impingement throughout his cervical, thoracic, or lumbar spine with no central canal stenosis or significant foraminal stenosis which would explain any of the patient's symptoms at this time."

(R. p. 297). Dr. Brown diagnosed Appellant with cervico-occipital neuralgia and a neck strain and recommended bilateral greater and lesser occipital nerve blocks. (R. p. 297).

On July 11, 2019, Dr. Brown performed the nerve block injections. (R. pp. 292-295). Dr. Brown then released Appellant at maximum medical improvement from a neurosurgical perspective and released Appellant back to the care of occupational medicine. (R. p. 294). Dr. Brown assigned a 0% whole person impairment for Appellant's lumbar and thoracic spine, plus a 5% whole person impairment for the cervical spine for "nonverifiable radicular complaints, and muscle tenderness, though no true muscle guarding was observed at the time of the visit." (R. p. 294).

On December 19, 2019, Dr. Brown sat for a deposition. (R. pp. 747-788). At his deposition, Dr. Brown confirmed his diagnosis of nonverifiable radiculopathy and occipital neuralgia and explained that a single occipital nerve block (an injection of a numbing medication and steroid) traditionally treats a vast majority of patients. (R. p. 757, line 18-p. 758, line 21, and p. 760, lines 7-9). Dr. Brown opined that he did not observe any surgical pathology, so he released Appellant for treatment of any non-surgical issues. (R. p. 760, line 20-p. 761, line 24). Given the nature of the injury, Dr. Brown testified he would not necessarily refer Appellant for neurology. (R. p. 769, lines 7-9). Dr. Brown also confirmed there was nothing structurally or mechanically wrong with Appellant's neck or back. (R. p. 785, lines 2-8).

Concerning Appellant's left sided foot drop, Dr. Brown opined that the symptoms were inconsistent with anatomic findings:

When I evaluated him, it was the presentation of the multiple locations that don't fit an anatomic finding without significant issues. You can certainly have a very large injury, either a expanding hematoma or a very large contusion, which can affect both of those places, or potentially within the deep basal ganglia certainly can happen, but those would typically be presenting with other findings, which he did not have on exam.

(R. p. 770, lines 1-9).

Similarly, concerning Appellant's left upper extremity contracture, Dr. Brown opined that the presentation of symptoms was inconsistent with the known anatomical findings:

[Appellant's left-hand contracture] is something that is difficult to explain from an anatomic and neurologic perspective because he did have very good oppositional tone. Typically, you'll have unopposed tone for -- lead -- lead to contractures. So, if you don't have the muscle input from the extensor muscles and/or the -- the nerves that control the extensor fibers, rather than the contracting and the flexion fibers, then you'll have unopposed tone and get a -- get a contraction. During my exam he had good, full strength in both sides, which made it very difficult to see that as a discreet, reliable finding.

(R. p. 770, line 15-p. 771, line 2).

Concerning Appellant's allegations of progressive weakness, Dr. Brown opined the timeline was inconsistent with how these symptoms develop following trauma:

...my expectation would be that a significant finding with a closed head injury would present early and then typically improve over time. If he had not had significant weakness at one month's time, I find it very unlikely that he would continue to develop weakness, which was not present even to a small degree at that point.

(R. p. 779, lines 16-23).

According to Dr. Brown, the problem attributing Appellant's alleged left foot drop and left upper extremity contracture was two-fold. First, there were no anatomic findings on the exam to corroborate the alleged symptoms. Secondly, given the spatial relationship in the brain between the neurons that control the arms and the neurons that control the legs, if a single traumatic lesion impacted both, that lesion would also have impacted other anatomical structures and create other problems which Appellant did not have. (R. p. 780, lines 2-23).

Dr. S. Taylor Jarrell, a neurosurgeon at Carolina Neurosurgery and Spine, treated the Appellant on August 22, 2019, following a referral from Appellant's primary care physician. (R.

pp. 391-396). Dr. Jarrell agreed with Dr. Brown that Appellant did not require any surgery. (R. p. 394). However, given the alleged headaches, Dr. Jarrell referred Appellant for a CT Scan of the head. (R. p. 394).

On September 5, 2019, Dr. Jarrell reviewed the CT scan of the head and noted that “[a]ll of his neuro imaging is normal.” (R. p. 399). For further treatment, Dr. Jarrell opined Appellant “would probably benefit from a referral to orthopedics,” but that Dr. Jarrell did “not have anything to offer at this point.” (R. p. 399).

Dr. David DuPuy, a general orthopedic surgeon with OrthoCarolina, first treated Appellant on September 12, 2019. (R. pp. 407-409). Given Appellant’s symptoms of left-hand contracture and left foot drop, Dr. DuPuy opined that these symptoms were “coming from the brain, as opposed to the spinal cord, either cervical, thoracic, or lumbar.” (R. p. 900, line 23-p. 902, line 2). On this first visit, Dr. DuPuy referred Appellant for an MRI of the brain. (R. p. 408). According to Dr. DuPuy, the “only abnormality” on the MRI was a small “hot spot” which he could not say was causing Appellant’s alleged symptoms. (R. p. 913, lines 6-17).

On September 26, 2019, Dr. DuPuy referred Appellant for a nerve study. (R. p. 417). According to Dr. DuPuy, the nerve study “pretty much ruled out the neck and the back” as the cause of Appellant’s alleged left hand and left foot symptoms. (R. p. 912, lines 20-22).

At his deposition on April 29, 2020, Dr. DuPuy opined that from an orthopedic standpoint, there was nothing structurally or mechanically wrong with Appellant’s head or brain:

Q: Yeah. From an orthopaedic standpoint, is there anything structurally or mechanically wrong with Mr. Bagley's head or brain, from what you can tell?

A: No. That's a surprise to me that those scans are essentially normal. The -- but it doesn't mean that an injury can't have occurred at the cellular, microscopic level. But he didn't have a -- a subdural hematoma, and he doesn't have an area in the brain by MRI where it's just dark, where the brain tissue has died and the body has carried kind of cleaned it up. He doesn't have that.

And so that, to me this is an – an irregular presentation and, of course, that's why I defer it to Dr. Rao and the – the neurology subspecialist.
But from an orthopaedic standpoint, I do not think that there is an injury to the cervical nerves from the neck, shoulder, arm, out to the hand.

(R. p. 931, line 18-p. 932, line 11). Dr. DuPuy testified he would defer to neurology in the evaluation of Appellant's brain:

. . . I have nothing from an orthopaedic standpoint to say this has anything to do with a neck injury or an arm injury or a back injury or a leg and foot injury. And if they say it's not coming from the brain, then I do not know why he is in that fixed position. And as I said, the fact that he was able to continue working and then presented to the workers' comp the next day, the CT scan was normal, that part doesn't make sense with this syndrome either. But, of course . . . But, I mean, that's what I'm saying: It is what it is.

(R. p. 936, line 20-p. 937, line 20).

On the issue of scope of evaluation and his opinion, Dr. DuPuy testified:

Q Okay. And so, at least from -- from an orthopaedic standpoint, you can't say what's causing – what underlying pathology is causing Mr. Bagley's symptoms; is that fair to say?

A That is exactly what I say. Yes.

Q And then, of course, your -- your -- the scope of your evaluation is limited to the orthopaedic side of things?

A Yes. It is. My expertise is limited to the orthopaedic arms and legs part, not inside the brain.

(R. p. 938, line 17-p. 939, line 2).

Dr. T. Hermanth Rao, a neurologist at The Neurological Institute, first treated the Appellant on October 31, 2019, for left upper extremity held in flexion, left foot held in inversion, and decreased muscle strength in the left upper and lower extremities with left foot drop, as well as various cognitive issues including headaches, loss of memory, dizziness, irritability, and depression. (R. pp. 431-434). In the records, Dr. Rao provided a differential diagnosis of closed head injury versus spine injury and referred Appellant for an EEG. (R. p. 433).

On November 19, 2019, Appellant had a follow up visit with Dr. Rao. (R. pp. 435-438). According to Dr. Rao, Appellant's EEG revealed "regular" findings. (R. p. 437). Dr. Rao then recommended Appellant for a 96-hour video EEG and an outpatient brain injury program. (R. p. 437).

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